‘Scots and Ulster: the late medieval context’

Discussions concerning contact between Scotland and Ulster in the late medieval period often begin with the galloglass, Scottish fighting men who migrated to Ireland during the late thirteenth and fourteenth centuries and settled there.  This movement was followed by subsequent periods of migration ensuring continuity of traffic from Scotland to Ireland through to the sixteenth century.
  In his 1973 work The Scottish Migration to Ulster in the Reign of James I Michael Perceval-Maxwell began his contextualization of connections between Scotland and Ulster with a discussion of galloglass.
  While acknowledging the significance of this migration in establishing and maintaining links between native families in the north and west of Ireland and Highland and Island clans in the west of Scotland, Perceval-Maxwell argues that the penetration of the east coast of Ulster by the Scots – a process initiated by the establishment of a branch of the Scottish Clan Donald in the Glens of Antrim – was of greater importance.  Although highlighting the extent to which the presence of these Highland Scots in Ulster shaped Tudor policy towards that region, overall his discussion of Scottish involvement in Ulster during the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries is brief.  Nonetheless, the presence of the Scots in the north was a constant concern for English monarchs and by the mid-sixteenth century Scots were regarded as obstructing Tudor policy.  While plantation was initiated by the English in Laois and Offaly in the 1550s the first attempt to settle Ulster, under the direction of Sir Thomas Smith, came in the 1570s.  Thus, as Perceval-Maxwell argues ‘the English had gained considerable experience in planting Ireland by the time James VI because their king’,
 and regarding the Laois, Offaly and Munster plantations asserts that ‘when the question of how to deal with Ulster arose, precedents of earlier plantation schemes lay ready at hand’.
  Indeed, the earlier experiences of the English in Ireland may well have proved useful for James VI when he turned his attention to Ireland in the early years of the seventeenth century, but they do little to explain why the Scots reacted so enthusiastically to the project for plantation in Ulster when first raised in 1606.  Too much focus on earlier English experiences of plantation also ignores the Scottish attempts at plantation initiated by James VI in the years immediately prior to and following his accession to the throne of England and Ireland.  This essay intends to explore the late medieval background to plantation in Ulster and the Scottish participation in these processes of migration and settlement during the early seventeenth century.  The continuity of links between Scotland and Ireland, as well as Stewart royal policy regarding Scottish involvement in Ireland needs to be placed within a wider context, acknowledging the significance of 1603 and its repercussions for Gaelic society in both Ireland and Scotland.  Nonetheless, it will begin where Perceval-Maxwell began – with the penetration of the east coast of Ulster by the Scottish Clan Donald.

* * *

The Clan Donald had risen to prominence in the west of Scotland during the fourteenth century on account of the combination of their support of the Bruce faction during the Wars of Scotland and the strategic marriage of John MacDonald of Islay to his cousin Amie Macruari.  Consequently, John was able to amalgamate the island territories previously held by his ancestor Somerled, the twelfth century king of the isles, and subsequently adopt the title Dominus Insularum, lord of the Isles, which successive clan chiefs laid claim to.
  A second marriage to Margaret, daughter of Robert the Steward, future Robert II of Scotland, was nothing short of a coup for this island lord whose close kinship link to the royal dynasty saw further extension of Clan Donald power throughout the west of Scotland.  When, in the early fifteenth century, Alexander, third lord of the Isles, added the mainland earldom of Ross to his possessions he became one of the largest territorial magnates in Scotland.  But as the MacDonald lordship promoted Gaelic language and Gaelic culture the territorial strength of the island lord came to be viewed as something of a threat to the Europeanized Lowlands of Scotland where the king and much of his political community were situated.  


The traditional view of the lordship is one of inherent antagonism between the Scottish crown and the island lords.  On occasion it has been argued that the lords of the Isles acted as semi-independent mini-kings in the west and even went so far as to claim the crown for themselves.
  Such a view, however, does not stand up to closer scrutiny and research in the last couple of decades has re-assessed such opinions.
  Initially the lordship had good relations with the Scottish crown, a result of alliance with the Bruce faction and marriage into the Stewarts.  Indeed, although the lordship remained aggressively Gaelic in character and maintained links with native Irish society, it co-operated with the Scottish crown, held land by charter and recognised the crown as its tenurial superior.  However, it is true that the MacDonalds also directly challenged royal authority when it sought to curtail clan expansion.  


It was during the time of Duncan, second lord, that the MacDonalds first established their territorial base in Ireland.  John Mor MacDonald, Duncan’s younger brother and heir to the lordship, married Margery, daughter and heiress of the Bisset family, in the 1390s and through this union John MacDonald inherited two-thirds of the Glens of Antrim.
  While a branch of the MacDonalds was established in the north of Antrim during the fifteenth century, it was not until the early sixteenth century that MacDonalds asserted their claim to this land more forcefully with John’s descendants becoming known as the MacDonalds of Dunivaig and the Glens.
  Nonetheless, with hindsight it is understandable that during the later fifteenth and sixteenth centuries - an era of increased royal authority and moves towards centralisation – the anomaly of Scottish subjects possessing land in Ireland would become untenable.  Successive English governments expressed continued concern regarding the activity of the Scots in Ulster and the extent to which this threatened stability and the implementation of Tudor policy in the north of Ireland.
  In contrast, however, Stewart monarchs displayed remarkably little interest in the involvement of their subjects in Ireland.  Only when events impacted directly upon them did Scottish monarchs attempt to interfere in the activity of their subjects in Ireland.

In 1424 James I returned to Scotland after having spent the first eighteen years of his reign in captivity in England.  On his return James wanted to stamp his authority on Scotland and deal with what he perceived to be the various threats to his authority.  One of these was the power of his close kinsmen the Albany Stewarts.  James arrested Murdac, duke of Albany, and his sons and executed them in 1425 but unfortunately for the king, Murdac’s son, James ‘the fat’, escaped taking refuge from John Mor MacDonald of Dunivaig in Ireland: an estate outside James’ own jurisdiction.  For the king, this was far from an ideal situation.  James ‘the fat’ was not simply the disinherited heir of the duchy of Albany but also a claimant to the throne.
  As a king without an heir this was a source of some anxiety, heightened due to relations between James ‘the fat’ and the lordship of the Isles.  This concern is evident in legislation passed in March 1425 which forbade unauthorised contact between Scotland and Ireland for two reasons.  Primarily James was worried that his ‘notourous rebellouris ar reset in Erschry of Yrlande Ande for that cause passingearis passande fra thyme mycht do preiudice to this realme’.
  The second reason concerned ‘the men that ar vndir Erschry subiect to the king of Ingland’ as they ‘mycht espy be pryuateis of this realme ande do grete skaithe...’.
  However, this legislation was not intended to sever ‘the auld frendschip betuix the king of Scotlande ande his lieges ande the gude alde frends of Erschry of Yrlande’.

If the king was to deal successfully with the problem of the Albany Stewarts he would have to deal with the MacDonald lord of the Isles as well.  While James resented how the Albany Stewarts had feathered their own nest during his captivity, he was resentful of the growing influence of Alexander, third lord of the Isles, mainly because he held the large and profitable mainland earldom of Ross.  During the late 1420s and 1430s crown-lordship relations deteriorated significantly but this was not simply the consequence of greater aggressiveness on the part of the crown.  In contrast to his father, Donald, who had maintained stable relations with the crown, Alexander was much more assertive and his behaviour contributed to the king’s association of the lordship with the ongoing law and order problem in the west.
  Having decided to bring him to heel, in 1428 James arrested and imprisoned Alexander.  With the island lord in captivity the king was free to interfere in the succession to the lordship and initiated communication with John Mor MacDonald of Dunivaig and the Glens.  According to the manuscript History of the MacDonalds, ‘the king sent [James] Campbell to know if John Mor of Kintyre, MacDonald’s uncle, would send to take al his nephew’s lands’.
  This may have been the king’s stated intention, but it is unlikely to have been his real motivation.  The bottom line for James was reclamation of the mainland earldom of Ross and relegation of the MacDonalds to the fringes of the realm.  But he hoped that by coming to agreement with John Mor he could neutralise the threat that James ‘the fat’, still hiding in Ulster, presented to him.  Unfortunately for James, John Mor refused the offer and in the process was killed by Campbell, an act which fostered widespread discontent and resentment towards the king amongst the MacDonalds.

With John Mor MacDonald of Dunivaig now dead the king had little option but to turn back to Alexander, lord of the Isles, and try to negotiate.  James attempted to educate Alexander in an attempt to integrate him into the Scottish political community and, according to the Scottish chronicler Walter Bower, Alexander was encouraged to ‘conduct himself thenceforwards towards the king and his lieges in such a way that he might deserve to win greater favour from the king and be included in his immediate retinue’.
  The young lord made a rather pragmatic promise of good behaviour which secured his release, a move which James soon came to regret.  According to the Annals of the Four Masters, in early 1429 a fleet came out of the isles to James ‘the fat’ ‘to convey him home, that he might be made king’.
  Whether or not the islesmen had any intention of supporting this claim to the throne is questionable, but it was enough to cause real concern for the king.  A claimant to the throne, popular with the people and supported by a formidable Highland army, was not a prospect to be relished and certainly not by a king who, since his return to Scotland, had succeeded in making himself increasingly unpopular with his subjects and nobility alike.  Fortunately for James the remaining member of the Albany Stewarts died before making it to Scotland.  

The threat which MacDonald connections across the Irish Sea posed to the Scottish crown had forced James to deploy additional troops towards Ireland.  However, the king’s position was secured by the death of the remaining member of the Albany Stewart family and the crown’s military defeat of Alexander, lord of the Isles, in 1429.  Thus, despite ongoing Highlander activity in Ireland little attention was devoted to the Highlands or Ireland during the remainder of his reign.
  Subsequent Scottish monarchs continued this lack of concern with Scottish activity in Ireland, regardless of the efforts of the Scottish parliament which admonished both James II and James III for their inability to devote much attention to the problem of lawlessness in the west.
  In contrast, however, James IV did develop much more of a strategy towards the region in his effort to follow through with the 1493 forfeiture of the lordship although admittedly his hand was forced on account of the outbreak of rebellion in the west.
  He began a policy of co-operation with some clan chiefs, albeit using Archibald Campbell, second earl of Argyll, as a conduit.  But in response to an act of outright aggression he executed the then chief of the MacDonalds of Dunivaig and two of his sons.  Consequently, at the outset of the sixteenth century this branch of the MacDonalds was relegated to their Irish estates and, while the position of the MacDonalds in Ireland steadily strengthened, the fortunes of the clan in Scotland varied considerably.


Royal attitude towards the activity of the Highlanders in Ireland is perhaps most neglected, yet most interesting, during the reign of James V.  James benefited immensely from the marriage and succession crisis facing his uncle, Henry VIII.  While Henry broke with Rome in his efforts to gain a divorce and remarry in order to secure the birth of a male heir, James remained loyal to the Catholic church and gained numerous concessions from a papacy keen to prevent further haemorrhaging of its power.  Bolstered by interest in the Scottish king as a possible marriage suitor from a number of key continental powers, James began to treat his uncle with an increased confidence that bordered at times on arrogance.  This attitude is evident when looking at affairs in Ireland and the involvement of Highlanders there.
  Having established closer communication with a number of Highland chiefs, most notably Alexander MacDonald of Dunivaig and the Glens in the early 1530s, James remained well-informed of Scottish activity in Ireland and indeed, of events in Ireland in general.  At the same time Henry was being made aware of the full extent of Scottish activity in Ireland.  In 1532 Henry Percy, fourth earl of Northumberland, wrote to the English king regarding the arrival of 4,000 Scots in the north of Ireland.  He added that ‘the Scotch king had had letters from Machonnell within these eight days, which are kept very secret and thankfully taken, and James has sent him 500 archers from the Out Isles in great haste’.
  The following year Henry was told that the Scots were ‘busily inhabiting a great part of Ulster, and must be driven away’.
  In an effort to do just that Henry sent an ambassador to Scotland to confer on James the Order of the Garter and to reach agreement on certain affairs concerning the two realms.  One of the most pressing, at least from an English perspective, was the presence of Scots in the north of Ireland and the English ambassador requested that James forbid his subjects to ‘pass into Ireland’.  James refused ‘saying that the prohibition would rather provoke them to go thither than otherwise, and that it would be better the English should inform him when any of his men went to that country, and he would recall them’.
  This attitude towards his uncle was typical of James who was happy to let his subjects cause further trouble in the north of Ireland, and actively encourage them himself.
  His efforts to exploit rebellion in Ireland in the 1530s to undermine Henry’s position further were short-lived, however, and even before Henry’s declaration of kingship in 1541 James’ had curtailed his involvement in Ireland.
 


James’ unexpected death from illness in 1542 left a minority council, weakened by political and religious faction, to govern Scotland.  The rejection by the Scots of the Treaties of Westminster in December 1543, which would have secured the betrothal of the young Mary, Queen of Scots, to Edward, Henry’s son, resulted in the English king’s efforts to force the Scots into accepting the dynastic union.  Persuasion by military force was counter-productive and served to push the Scots closer to France, an alliance which Mary of Guise, widow of James V, was pursuing actively.  Consequently in 1548 the young queen Mary was betrothed and, in 1558 married to, the dauphin Francis, to the delight of Guise, then Regent of Scotland.  Maintaining links with France, securing her daughter’s marriage to the dauphin and preserving the Catholic religion were Guise’s core aims during this period although in many other respects she followed traditional Stewart policy.  She expressed concern regarding law and order, consolidated royal authority throughout the realm and made moves towards greater centralisation of government.  Like her husband and father-in-law before her she did not neglect the Highlands.  Pamela Ritchie has suggested something of Guise’s efforts which included dealing harshly with George Gordon, fourth earl of Huntly, for failing to follow through with commissions aimed at stabilising unrest in the north.
  Notwithstanding, during the latter years of her reign Highland matters increasingly were dealt with by Archibald Campbell, fourth earl of Argyll, and from 1558 his son, Archibald, the fifth earl.  

The Campbells were a native Gaelic family and the head of their kin was the traditional clan chief.
  Since the fifteenth century the Campbell chiefs had successfully maintained their traditional chiefly duties and adeptly aligned these obligations with loyal service to the crown.  They had benefited significantly from doing so and rose to prominence in national affairs.  In the 1550s and 1560s the fifth earl of Argyll sought to further the Protestant religion in Scotland through closer amity with England.  In an attempt to secure Elizabeth’s co-operation Argyll offered a three-kingdom solution, offering aid to the English in their efforts to pacify the north of Ireland in return for English military assistance in 1560 to help consolidate the victory of the Lords of the Congregation, thus securing the establishment of Protestantism in Scotland.  Following this Argyll pursued amity with the England but by 1565 relations had collapsed.  Consequently, in 1566 Argyll secured a number of marriages that strengthened ties between the north Irish lords and west Highland and Island clans, increasing English concerns over Scottish activity in the region. 


Unrest undoubtedly did increase in the north of Ireland but it was as much a result of Tudor policy as it was of rivalry between native Irish families.  It caused considerable concern for the Elizabethan regime especially as the project for plantation in Ulster, initiated in the 1570s, ended in failure.
  Scottish involvement in Ireland continued unabated as did unrest in the Highland region but in Scotland this was the result of rivalry between clans, namely the Campbells and a number of west Highland and Island clans.  The Campbells had benefited enormously from the 1493 forfeiture of the MacDonald lordship of the Isles and, on a number of occasions, sought to gain legal title for lands belonging to various Highland and Island clans.  Over time Campbell territorial expansion had created significant grievances in the region resulting in heightened clan warfare.  At the same time the position of the earls, both locally and nationally, gave them a considerable monopoly on power in the west of Scotland.  Such political dominance enabled successive earls to gain royal commission authorizing them to take action against other clans as enemies of the crown, thereby destabilizing the region further and fuelling unrest that would continue into the latter decades of the sixteenth century.


The extent of this clan warfare only served to confirm the perception Lowlanders had of Gaelic society and this would prove problematic for the Highlanders in the long-term.  The sixteenth century as a whole saw attitudes towards the Highlands, as a region lacking in law and order, become firmly entrenched in the minds of Lowland society.  The ‘domestic ... and peaceful’ inhabitants of Lowlands, as described by John of Fordun in the 1380s, sought to distinguish themselves from their unruly neighbours in the west by emphasising their civic virtues, commercial spirit and law-abiding character.
  Despite the widespread enthusiastic response to Hector Boece’s Scotorum Historia, his view of the Scottish Gaels as an ‘isolated and uncorrupted’ people did little to change the attitudes of the Lowlanders.
  By the time James VI took personal control of government in 1584-5 the Highlands were a prime concern in relation to matters of law and order and royal authority.  The fact that the Highlands, by this time, was characterised by lawlessness was due, to some extent, to the fact that for most of the sixteenth century Scotland was ruled by minority governments.  Contrary to some views successive Stewart kings throughout this period did have if not a coherent policy then at least an overall strategy towards the Highlands.
  Indeed, the problem was not a lack of policy towards the region.  Rather the problem was that neither the Highlands nor Scottish involvement in Ireland featured large on the royal agenda.  Stewart kings were more concerned with other matters, namely diplomacy in continental Europe.  It was to be in the reign of James VI, however, that more decisive action was taken, largely because the context within which he reigned demanded it.  

James claimed he would be a ‘universal king’, ruling above faction but in practice this differed little from how either James IV or James V had regarded their kingship.
  For the duration of the sixteenth century the Scottish crown had sought to extend royal authority throughout the realm, but James VI’s thoroughness in this regard, as far as the Highlands were concerned, was borne out of self-interest.  James VI was an intelligent, well-educated and well-read individual, thanks in no small measure to his education at the hands of leading European humanist George Buchanan.  James was fully aware of the classical view of the north as a cold, dark region, inhabited by a barbaric people with little intelligence and also of the current wider debate regarding the noble savage.
  He wanted to project to the rest of Europe the image of himself as a true Renaissance prince but he was aware of the problem of his own ‘north’.  He disregarded the views of George Buchanan in his Historia Rerum Scoticarum regarding the Highlanders who, echoing the earlier statements by Boece, stated the Gaels were

alone in the universe ... a people who know no want, among whom every necessity of life abounds even to satiety.  Unacquainted alike with luxury and avarice, they find in their ignorance of vice, that innocence and tranquillity of mind, which others laboriously search for in the discipline and the precepts of wisdom.  Nor does anything seem wanting to consummate their supreme felicity ... .

There was, however, something of a dichotomy in James’ attitude towards his Highland subjects.  While he could disregard Buchanan concerning his view of Scottish Gaeldom, James was not prepared to completely dismiss the Gaelic dimension to the Scottish kingship.  Like his predecessors James glorified the Gaelic origins of his royal lineage, tracing his decent back to Fergus I through a largely-fabricated line of Dalriadic kings which, for Boece and Buchanan, affirmed  ‘the autonomy as well as the antiquity of the Scottish kingdom’.
  Glorifying in an ancient Scottish past was one thing, agreeing with Buchanan that early Highland society was based on classical republican principles was another.  That was tantamount to suggesting Gaelic society had evolved from an ancient civilization whereas in truth James regarded the Highlanders and Islesmen as a very real threat to British civility.  Thus, it is within the context of James’ vision of Great Britain that his Highland policies need to be explored.  No doubt James may have been quite happy for the Highlanders to cause Elizabeth concern in Ireland, but his desire to succeed to the English throne meant he sought to present himself as an effective, authoritarian monarch throughout his realm.  And if he did realise his British ambitions and inherit the English throne, he would also inherit the problem of the north in Ireland.  James needed to find a way to integrate his Gaelic subjects fully into his realm, pacify the Highlands and limit the destabilising influence of the Scots in Ireland.


At the outset James’ policy was remarkably similar to that of his predecessors.  He issued commissions and passed legislation that aimed at stabilising the region and he planned naval expeditions to the isles in an attempt to assert royal authority.  As few of these actually took place, and even then James preferred to remain in Edinburgh, what was intended to be a grand demonstration of royal authority resulted in little more than a whimper when they lacked the personal presence of the king.
  But while James could adopt the tried and tested methods of his grandfather and great-grandfather these were not sufficient enough to contend with the late-sixteenth-century context.  The failure of the Henrician reformation in Ireland had added a new dimension to attempts of the Tudors to extend royal authority.  English governments had feared that the Catholic Irish could be used by foreign powers as a base for attack on Protestant England.  They had good reason for such fears in the light of Anglo-Spanish relations and Spanish intrigue in Ireland.  With the succession of James VI - a Protestant, godly Prince of a Protestant godly commonwealth - the religious dimension was apparent in Scotland also.  For Tudor and Stewart monarchies, both keen to extend royal authority, it was no longer simply a case of barbaric, uncivilized Gael versus civic, law-abiding Lowlander.  It was now also a matter of Protestant godliness versus Catholic ungodliness.  

With the discovery of the Spanish blanks affair James faced a similar situation as Tudor monarchs during the latter part of the sixteenth century.  The possibility of a Spanish army landing in the west the Highlands to unite with Catholics in order to bring about a counter-Reformation posed a serious risk to the Scottish throne.
  At the same time James cannot have welcomed the news that Lauchan Maclean of Duart had been in negotiations with Elizabeth regarding the rebellion of Hugh O’Neill, earl of Tyrone.  Elizabeth wanted to exploit Maclean’s hatred of Tyrone (on account of the murder of a kin member by Tyrone) and his feud with the MacDonalds of Dunivaig and the Glens, with the aim of encouraging Maclean and the Highlanders to fight for her against the native Irish.  In an attempt to ensure Maclean’s co-operation Elizabeth had promised him a pension of a thousand crowns.
  Around the same time Donald Gorm of Sleat also hoped to exploit service to the English in the hope of recovering his claims to the former lordship of the Isles.
  Placed within a British context, unlike his predecessors, James VI could not afford to ignore the activity of his Highland subjects in Ireland.


In his attempts to formulate policy for the Highlands James was hampered by severe financial difficulties, one reason why so many of the planned expeditions to the west never took place.  Looking at the balance sheet James realized that neither he nor his predecessors had received full financial returns from the Highlands, a region the king believed was ‘maist commodious … alsueill be the fertillitie of the ground as be riche fischeingis be sey’.  Influenced by classical views of the ‘barbarian’ James adopted the view that he needed to transform the Highlanders into commercially minded subjects infused with civic virtues.  After all it was on account of the ‘barbarus inhumanitie’ of the Highlanders who were ‘voyd of ony knowledge of God of his Religioun and naturalie adhoiring all kind of civilitie’, compounded by their own ignorance and idleness, that the region was ‘altogidder unprofitable baithe to thame selffis and to all uthiris ... within this realme’.
  By the late 1580s James had embarked on his ‘civilizing’ policy for the Highlands and his plan was to ‘implant’ civilized Lowland men into the Highlands.  By living among them and by being in close contact with them his Highland subjects would absorb civic virtues which, when accompanied by proper religious instruction, would transform his rebellious, barbarous Catholic Highlanders into God-fearing, law-abiding, Protestant and, crucially, rent-paying, subjects who recognised royal authority.  

Considering the wider context perhaps it is unsurprising that this became a key policy for James.  He would have been aware of earlier English attempts at plantation in Ireland, other overseas endeavours, and the European literature on colonisation.
  His own plans for civilizing his Gaelic subjects were based on a combination of forceful intervention and education.  This was not an isolated view.  At the turn of the seventeenth century Sir James Perrot, speaking of the situation in Ireland argued that ‘thoe the soyle breede some operation, yet education, costome, and conversion [conversation] works the greatest effectes in disposinge of theyr myndes and manners’.  Of the Irish themselves, Perrot asserted that 

they were for the most parte rude without reverence, or scare any civill respect to theyr superiors.  In former times noe juste observers of matrimony, but apt to put away theyr wives uppon any slight occasion without lawfull cause, and more redie to take on any new then to be constant in theyr olde choyse.  This proceeded of eivell example allowed by costome and sufferance, beinge not restrayned by law and justice, begune by the great ones whoe had noe governors to regulat them, nor noe lawes to guyde them but theyr owne lustes and lisencious libertie.

However, if brought up in England and educated in English ways Perrot asserted the Irish would ‘have better breedinge, learne more witte and experience’.  A similar view had been expressed by James I in the fifteenth century when he sought to educate Alexander MacDonald in the ways of Lowland lordship.  At the end of the sixteenth century James VI envisaged a much more far-reaching education of his Highland subjects, forming the opinion that successful civilizing of the Gaels would be achieved through plantation.  

When discussing James’ plantation policy most historians look at the Lewis experiment as the only real concerted implementation of plantation in Scotland.  But James had wider intentions for in 1596 he led a military expedition to Islay to deal with the then chief of Dunivaig, Angus MacDonald.
  Angus, along with Donald Gorm of Sleat and

accumpanyed with a nowmer of rebellious and disobedient subjectis, inhabitantis of the Ilis, ar myndit, as the Kingis Majestie is informit, to transporte thameselffis ouer to Irland, and to joyne with the Erll of Tyrrown, O’Doneill, and uthiris of the rebellious people of that land ... .

In this expedition James VI was assisted by James MacDonnell of Dunluce, head of the Irish branch of the MacDonald clan, who sought to make gains at the expense of his kinsmen.  MacDonnell visited James in 1597 and offered the king assistance against his MacDonald kinsmen asking in return to be given title to MacDonald lands Kintyre and Islay.
  The council regarded his claims as unfounded but despite being ‘ignorant of the Lowland tongue, he speedily became a great favourite at the Scottish court’ and before departing received a grant of thirty merk land in Kintyre and was knighted.


Although a fondness for MacDonnell had developed, in relation to his policy for the western isles, James continued to look to Angus MacDonald who submitted to the king’s ‘godlie and princelie will’.  MacDonald promised to hand over his eldest son, James MacDonald, as a hostage and that he would ‘as soon as convenient, remove himself, his family and dependers, and all others who are not actual tenants or possessors of the ground, out of the bounds of Kintyre and isle of Giga ...’.
  He would also ‘keep good order in Yla, Colonsay, and Jura, so that no sorning shall be committed there upon any of the lieges to whom his Majesty has granted title to any part thereof ...’.
  In short, Angus was to remove his clan from Kintyre and accept new crown tenants, notably in Islay which was the traditional patrimony of the MacDonalds of Dunivaig and the MacDonnells of the Glens.  On paper this was a major achievement for the king.  Angus MacDonald was one of the leading clan chiefs in the west Highlands and this promise ensured his co-operation in the removal of ‘lawless and disobedient’ Highlanders from Kintyre leaving the region free for the ‘implanting’ of law-abiding subjects.  Angus, however, failed to follow through effectively with his promises and, on account of his failure to appear to answer for his behaviour, was denounced a rebel in May 1597.
  Two years later in 1599 James MacDonald of Knockrinsay, Angus’ son, promised

to cause the whole surname of Clan Donald and all other disobedient persons to remove furth of all the lands of Kintyre, as well kirklands as others ...  to the effect his highness may set and dispone the same at his pleasure; and ... the said Sir James shall maintain and defend them at his uttermost power.

This plan too failed to materialise although the king still appeared to look towards the MacDonalds in the hope of gaining their service as agents for plantation.

The scheme for the plantation of Lewis was put into action in 1598.  The groundwork for this was laid the previous year by an act which demanded all landowners in the Highlands and Islands to present before the council their charter affirming claims to land tenure.
  Failure to do resulted in the forfeiture of the Macleod chief of Lewis, to be followed up by the ‘implanting’ of civilized Lowland men.  In James’ opinion the inhabitants of the isles, living as they did so far from the centre of political authority, were ‘alluterly barbares, without any sort or shew of ciuilitie’.
  The king’s remedy for this was to plant ‘colonies among them of answerable In-lands subiects, that within short time may reforme and ciuilize the best inclined among them; rooting out or transporting the barbarous and stubborne sort, and planting ciuilitie in their roomes’.
  Consequently, the so-called Gentlemen Adventurers of Fife embarked on the plantation of Lewis.
  Led by Ludovic, earl of Lennox, the Fifemen were let lands in Lewis for an initial period of five years.
  The first attempt which lasted from October 1598 to December 1601 ended in failure with most of the Fifemen either returning home, or being murdered by the disgruntled inhabitants of the island.  Regardless of the failure of the first attempt, between August 1604 and October 1606 a second attempt was made at the Lewis endeavour while in 1605 James urged further plantation in the isles.
  

In order to do so, James followed the policy of his predecessors and looked to local and regional magnates for help.  In 1607, during the third and final attempt at plantation in Lewis, a proposal for plantation for ‘the remanent of his heines Iyllis’ put forward by George Gordon, first marquis of Huntly, was given serious consideration.
  Indeed, James had even gone so far as to tease out the finer details of the plan but facing pressure from the kirk to deal with the Catholic threat, and specifically Huntly, James capitulated and the plan was not implemented.
  The king looked also to Archibald Campbell, seventh earl of Argyll.  In the early years of the seventeenth century Argyll had been instrumental in executing royal policy against the Macgregors and in return James had promised a reward.  Argyll asked for the lands of Kintyre while the Privy Council advised the king that Argyll would be an asset in subduing unrest in Scotland and Ireland.
  Thus despite earlier efforts involving the MacDonalds of Dunivaig, in May 1607 James granted much of Kintyre to Argyll, who subsequently introduced his own tenants into the region.  Unsurprisingly they were not readily accepted by the former inhabitants of the isles, the MacDonalds, who subsequently caused trouble for Argyll.
  Regardless of such setbacks further moves facilitating plantation in Scotland continued over the next couple of years while in the last years of Elizabeth’s reign there appeared to be a greater degree of Anglo-Scottish co-operation than had previously existed regarding the activity of Scots in the north of Ireland.
  

Following his accession to the thrones of England and Ireland after the death of Elizabeth I in 1603 James was able to turn his attention to Ireland and act more decisively.  Within a few years he was facilitating and promoting plantation across the Irish sea.  This began formally in 1606 with the Hamilton-Montgomery plantation in Down and the Ards and continued with the more thorough plantation of Ulster in 1610.  The Ulster plantations were the first formal expression of James’ ‘British’ overseas endeavours and would lead to plantations across the Atlantic.  Certainly his position as king of England and Ireland as well as Scotland solved the problematic issues of constitutional jurisdiction and sovereignty regarding the Scots in Ulster but Ireland had not suddenly appeared on James’ radar post-1603.  During the latter years of the 1590s as his position as Elizabeth’s successor looked more realistic James increasingly was aware that not only would he inherit the English throne, but a troubled Irish situation as well.  In his efforts at plantation within Scotland there is a suggestion that James was influenced by previous English plantations in Ireland.  He demanded a very clear separation between original inhabitants and the planters; among the ‘Articlis to be contracted amongst the Societie of the Lewis’ was a clause stating no ‘marriage or uther particular freindschip to be any of the socieite, without consent of the haill, with any Hyland man’.
  George Nicolson, the English informant in Edinburgh, subsequently wrote to Robert Cecil in August 1598 regarding the Lewis scheme stating it was ‘a good platt for her majesty to subdue our Ireland with’.
  The English may have viewed James’ action as advancing the Tudor conquest of Ireland, but James was more concerned with his plan for a Stewart Great Britain than he was with Elizabethan Ireland.  

James recognised that if he was going to pacify Ireland, he had to first deal with his own subjects.  The economic agenda behind James’ efforts at plantation cannot be denied, but at the same time, plantation in the western Highlands and Isles of Scotland was a fundamental necessity if he wanted to deal effectively with the Irish problem he inherited on Elizabeth’s death.  With Lowland virtues being implanted amongst his wild and barbarous Gaels he hoped to limit their military activity in Ireland.  James’ Scottish policy was in place before 1603 and, in the immediate aftermath, realistically he could formulate a ‘British’ policy that aimed to incorporate the outlying west and north more fully into the larger entity of Great Britain.  With plantation already implemented for the west Highlands and Isles, he responded enthusiastically to the proposal for plantation in Ulster.  Certainly James had reason to be optimistic about his chances of achieving what Tudor monarchs consistently had failed to do.  The constitutional, jurisdictional and legal complexities concerning Scottish involvement that had prevailed throughout the sixteenth century were removed by his accession to the thrones of England and Ireland.  As well as providing the opportunity for commercial enterprise, plantation in Ulster, he hoped, would solve the problem of law and order in both the west of Scotland and the north of Ireland.

* * *

If, however, we examine Scottish interest in Ireland purely within the context of the Clan Donald or the interests of the Scottish crown in Ireland then we are presented with a rather narrow, inaccurate picture.  Because of the efforts of both Tudor and Stuart monarchs to extend royal authority amongst their Gaelic subjects the superficial view of plantation policy is that of a civilized, Protestant society pitted against barbaric, Catholic Gaeldom.  This, however, is far from an accurate reading of events and does little to explain satisfactorily the enthusiastic response of the Scots to the project for plantation in Ulster nor does it explain the extent to which Gaels, far from being the victims, actually participated in, and benefited from, plantation. 

The militarized nature of Gaelic society in both Ireland and Scotland was regarded as one of the main causes of unrest.  But while efforts were made to bring the Highlanders to line, both Tudor and Stuart monarchs also sought to harness Highland military might for their own ends.  Elizabeth had wanted to deploy ‘some Hieland men for the better repressing of the tressonable rebellion intertenyit aganis hir within the cuntry of Ireland’ while James asked ‘ane hundreth hieland men be send for to Drumfreis’ for the ‘dantoning and repressing of the dissobedient personis of the said west Marche’.
  Just as Highlanders could be used to royal advantage in other matters, so they were used to advance schemes for plantation.  In the Scottish context James hoped that the promises of Angus MacDonald of Dunivaig and his son James would help in the removal of disobedient inhabitants, namely the MacDonalds from Kintyre, which would allow for lands to be let to new, law-abiding tenants.  When it came to the plantation of Ulster, James adopted similar practices.  Within a month of succeeding to the English throne, James granted the Route and the Glens in Ulster to the Catholic Sir Randal MacDonnell, brother of James MacDonnell, knighted by James VI.  On 6 July the following year a new grant was made to MacDonnell.  This confirmed the lands of the Route and the Glens granted by patent on 28 May 1603 and also provided MacDonnell with Rathlin Island, all of which were to be held during life; along with the custody of Dunluce castle during good behaviour.  However, within this grant was an additional clause which indicated a more coherent plan for plantation in Ulster.  It stipulated that Randal had  

power ... during life, to divide the said territories into several precincts, each to contain 2000 a[cres] at least, and to give different names to each division, that so they may become different manors – to set apart 500 a[cres] in each for demesne-lands, and to build a castle or mansion-house upon each, within seven years – to hold courts baron, and appoint seneschals.

This was, as Perceval-Maxwell argues, a ‘tentative outline ... a design for plantation which was later ... applied throughout the province’.
  Nonetheless, the move itself emphasised James’ readiness to utilise the Clan Donald, who were 

the scoolemaisteris and fosteraris of all barbaritie, savaignes, and crueltye, - hes evir from the beginning bein addicit nocht only to rebellioun within this continent land and the iles, bot evir wer assisteris to the notherne Irische people, dwelling in Ireland, in all thair rebellionis.

Thus, plantation was not a straightforward case of planting civilised Protestant Lowland Scots or English amongst the rebellious Catholic native Gaels.  Nor were the Clan Donald the only players on the field.  But due to the dominance of the MacDonalds and the island lordship in the history of contacts between Scotland and Ireland, other links are overlooked too readily.  A quick glance at a map of the archipelago reinforces the point that it is not just the western mainland and isles that are close to the north east coast of Ulster.  Argyll, Ayrshire and Galloway lie in close proximity to Ireland as well. 

As early as the thirteenth century Scots from Galloway, of Gaelic descent, had settled in the north-east of Ulster.
  Thomas of Galloway, earl of Atholl, is mentioned as having ‘plundered Derry-Columbkille, and carried off ... all the precious articles of the people of Derry, and of the north of Ireland, which they brought to Coleraine, in 1211-2.
  In 1214 Thomas of Galloway built a castle at Coleraine and the next year he received confirmation of rights to land from King John.  At this time a number of castles built by the Anglo-Normans did not have the necessary manpower to defend against attacks from the native Irish.  While the castle of Coleraine was said to have survived initially ‘because of the surrounding settlement of Scots from Galloway’, it later fell to O Neill and the de Lacys, a family of Anglo-Norman stock.
  Although the Anglo-Normans managed to sabotage the efforts of the men of Galloway to settle in the north of Ireland, during the 14th century the colony in Ireland went into decline, a process encouraged by the Bruce invasion of Ireland and the subsequent wasting of the land.
  By the early 15th century the colony in the north-east of Ireland had all but been devastated.  The importance of Coleraine castle diminished as Carrickfergus castle on the north-east Antrim coast became of increased strategic significance for the surviving colony.  

Carrickfergus had been a key trading port in earlier centuries and, although its importance in this respect lessened as the strength of the colony deteriorated, it remained a strategic garrison and a vital means of communication.  In these times, contacts that existed between Scotland and Ulster were of vital importance for the English colonists.  In terms of trade and mastery of the water contacts between Scotland and Ulster were crucial for the remaining garrison at Carrickfergus, especially as the castle continued to be a focus for attack on the part of the native Irish, who at times were helped in their endeavours by Scots.
  In the fifteenth century merchants from Drogheda requested safe-conducts from the archbishop of Armagh to enable them to carry on their trade between Ulster and Scotland.  This trade continued throughout the sixteenth century.  In 1587 Gilbert Thomson, burgess of Ayr, along with his nephew David Reid and ‘ane gentilman of Irland’ had been making their way to the ‘Isle of Lochfeule’ in Ireland when, by ‘a grite storme and tempest’, they were ‘drevin in to the ile of Rachrie, pertening to Angus McConeill of Dunnyveg’.
  Similarly, Robert Montgomery from Arran was called before the Privy Council to answer for the ‘violent and maisterfull reiff and spoile’ of an Irish boat along with all its merchandise which belonged to a John Kelly of Westford in Ireland, as well as the murder of two of Kelly’s men.
  

This dominance of the Scots in maritime affairs was a political consequence of geography.  During the reign of Robert I there were a noticeable number of charters to west coast lords that required galley service as a feudal due.  As Steve Boardman argues, this was both a defensive and offensive measure.  Bruce needed protection from the west coast MacDougall lords of Argyll who he had recently exiled, but at the same time this provision of galleys allowed for the movement of troops across the Irish sea at the time of the Bruce invasion.
  In 1430 James I passed an act stating that ‘al baronais and lordis hafand landis and lordschippis near the see in the west and on the north partis and namely foranent the ylis that haf galayis’ were to provide galley service and every four merk of land was to provide an oar ‘to be raisit to the kingis vse’.
  It was these galleys that allowed for such close relations to be maintained across the Irish Sea and for the transportation of military aid so readily, the crossing between Kintyre and the Antrim coast being a mere eight-hour row.  The Scottish crown’s tradition of attempting to harness the naval power and knowledge of those living in the west for its own ends continued into the sixteenth century.  Indeed, during the late medieval period Scots often had been in control of the Irish Sea and, in times of Anglo-Scottish hostility, Scottish warships preyed on shipping in the region.
  Just as Highlanders and Islesmen had a strong knowledge of tides and currents and were well-prepared for sea-crossings, so too were other Scots living along the west coast, notably Galloway.  For all of these communities water was a means of communication as well as a vital conduit for trade, while English and Scottish authorities regarded it as more of a barrier.  For those who could exploit it, however, naval strength brought additional advantages.

Throughout the late medieval period officials in England had regarded a career in Ireland as an obstacle to, if not the death-toll for, advancement.  Likewise, many in Scotland avoided commissions relating to the west Highlands and Isles; dealing with Highland affairs was not regarded as a profitable career move unless you were a Campbell or a Gordon.
  During the sixteenth century, however, this began to change.  William Cunningham, who succeeded his father to become fourth earl of Glencairn in 1540-1, rose to prominence in royal favour often through service in the west Highlands.  The Cunninghams were from Galloway, just across the water from east Ulster, and had lived in that region for centuries.  By the 1530s the family had amassed a territorial base encompassing land in no less than nine sheriffdoms.
  Although a treasurer during the minority of James V it was Glencairn’s reputation as a naval commander that would fuel his rise.  His offer in 1531 to furnish five ships at his own expense and sail to the assistance of Christian II of Denmark suggests something of the extent of his personal naval power.  In 1538 he sailed to France to escort the king’s new bride, Mary of Guise, back to Scotland.  In 1540 he was vice-admiral of James’ expedition to the isles and he remained in Kintyre while James returned to Edinburgh.  There he acted as the king’s commissioner and carried out a survey of crown lands in Kintyre and during his time in Kintyre the king sent Glencairn the ship the Little Forfar for his own personal use.  In 1539 his youngest son, William, was appointed bishop of Argyll and abbot-commendator of Saddell monastery in the isles while Glencairn himself received a grant of lands in Kintyre.  Whether Glencairn had an interest in acquiring further lands in the region is unclear although evidence would suggest he wanted to shake Campbell dominance in the west.  Glencairn was involved in stirring up the 1545 island rebellion in the aim of discrediting the earl of Argyll, although unfortunately this backfired on the ruling administration.
  Nonetheless, his actions indicate a trend that intensified throughout the sixteenth century; families in close geographical proximity to the Highland region sought to acquire additional territory in the region at the expense of its traditional inhabitants.  
In an atmosphere of a burgeoning population and increased competition for land and economic resources it is understandable that Scots, and Englishmen, responded so enthusiastically to the initiative for plantation in Ulster.  Families from the west of Scotland of both Gaelic and Anglo-Norman descent, with well-established trade connections in the north of Ireland, would have been fully aware of the fertility of the land in Ulster and its abundant timber supply, something severely lacking in Scotland.
  More importantly, there were Scottish precedents for plantation in a wider European atmosphere which asserted the legitimacy of and need for plantation and overseas colonies.  For the Scots it was a clear-cut choice.  Ulster was a rich economic resource to be exploited, but it was also geographically much closer to their estates in the west of Scotland.  It is, perhaps, no coincidence that the first scheme for plantation in Ulster during the reign of James VI and I was proposed and initiated by two Scots from Ayrshire, James Hamilton, the son of a minister of Dunlop, and Hugh Montgomery, sixth laird of Braidstane.  

Perceval-Maxwell explains the Scottish response to the plantation project as pragmatic, a reaction to the circumstances at the time.  To some extent this explanation is justified, but it fails to take full account of the continuity of links between the west of Scotland and the north of Ireland that existed during the preceding centuries.  If a long-term perspective is adopted then the Scottish dimension to plantation, far from being a reaction to the post-1603 context is rather more complex and involves a greater degree of continuity with the previous centuries.  The strong historical and cultural connections between Scotland and Ireland have been the subject of much scholarly research in recent decades but these connections must not be overlooked when exploring the plantation of Ulster and the participation of the Scots in this exercise.  The involvement of Scots from Galloway in Ulster during the thirteenth and fourteenth century has been the subject of attention but little work has focused on the extent of continuity of these links during the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries.  Much work remains to be done and, while the significance of 1603 should not be understated, the strength of these historical roots, whether political, social, cultural or economic, between Ulster and Scotland needs to be emphasised.  Just as Hayes-McCoy argued for three distinct yet inter-related phases of migration of Scots from the Highlands and Isles into Ireland, so the migration of Scots to Ulster as part of the plantation in the early seventeen century ought to be viewed as a another phase in the attempted settlement of Scots from Galloway and Ayrshire in Ulster, a process which began in the early thirteenth century.  Scottish involvement in the plantation of Ulster built upon a strong tradition of migration between the west of Scotland and the north of Ireland, regardless of whether this was state-sponsored or not and regardless of whether it was permanent or temporary.  The union of the crowns removed some problematic barriers for the Scots, making the acquisition of estates in Ulster an altogether more attractive prospect.  Ultimately, therefore, the positive response to the Ulster project cannot be appreciated fully without an awareness of the processes of migration and settlement between Scotland and Ulster that had existed in preceding centuries and of the supranational identities existing in this Irish Sea world that transcended political, territorial and perceived geographic boundaries.  
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